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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Robert E. Mackensen, Architect, AIA, submitted the following description.

This is a very small brick chapel with a beautiful and sensitively pro-
portioned entrance facade. The roof structure is also masonry, now sealed
over and painted with aluminum paint. Iron tie rods at the springline of
the arch restrain the thrust of the masonry roof. Inside, well painted
plasterboard of considerable age has been installed at walls, and flat
across the ceiling below the tie rods. The space is only big enough for
an old carpenter's gothic altar and kneeler.

A concrete floor is uncracked, and the interior plasterboard, although old
and somewhat deteriorated, is well painted, as is all the wood work. Two
small Gothic windows are currently boarded up.

The overall dimensions of the building are approximately 10 ft. x 14 ft. x
14 ft. high.

There is a brick foundation with poured concrete floor.
The wall comstruction is 12 inch thick brick masonry, with a vaulted roof.
Two buttressed towers crowned by wooden crosses frame the door.

There is a double wood plank door with wood transom, framed by corbelled
brick Gothic arch.

It has a vaulted masonry roof with iron tie rods, covered with bituminous
roofing material, and aluminum paint.

The interior is a single room 8 ft. wide, 11 ft. lonmng, and 9 ft. to
ceiling. e N

Other than maintenance and repairs, the exterior is exactly as it was
congtructed 1n 1883

P eyt

About ten yards to the north stands a concrete memorial cross.:

Italian cypress flank the Shrine, and two old live-oaks, 20 yards to the
rear, complete the setting. sl
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecture

The structure is a unique example of venacular or folk architecture.
The initial impact of suddenly sighting a small Gothic structure 100
yards off the highway in the middle of an open barley field lends to
its wmiqueness.

It is a small brick chapel with a well proportioned entrance facade.

The roof structure is also masonry, now sealed over and painted with
aluminum paint. Iron tie rods at the spring-~line of the arch restrain
the thrust of the masonry roof. Inside, well painted plasterboard of
considerable age has been installed at walls, and flat across the ceiling
below the tie rods. The space is only big enmough for an old carpenter's
gothic altar and kneeler. Small sprays of flowers, mostly artificial,
attest to the Shrine's continuing use as a quiet refuge in the fields.

Two Italian cypress flank the Shrine and three old valley oaks complete
the setting. The bricks were hand kilned by the architect-builder,
Father Wallrath in 1883, The structure was erected as a Shrine to

Our Lady of Sorrows, and commemorates the site of the First Mass in
Colusa County.

Religion

In 1852 Andrew and Jacob Myers, with their families, settled on Grand
Island, an area south of the present city of Colusa. It later became
known as Sycamore Grove, then Sycamore; now a ghost town. Together
with several other families, they formed a small Catholic settlement.
There was no Catholic Church nearer than Marysville and no priest
visited this area until May 1856. At that time, Jacob Myers went to
Marysville and brought back Father Peter Magagnotto to say the first
‘Mass in Colusa County. This Mass was said in the open under the oak
trees. Mass was said on this site thereafter on occasional visits
from the Marysville clergy.




(2) Hand

(1) Colusa County Hall of Records, Book C, pages 235 and 592.
written records of Father Michael Wallrath (1877 to 1912) Office of Our

Lady of Lourdes Church, Colusa, California. (3) Colusa County, California
Will S. Green, page 116; Elliott and Moore, San Francisco, California 1880.
(4) Hallowed Were the Gold Dust Trails: Henry L. Walsh, S.J. pages 354,
355, 358, University of Santa Clara Press. (5) Not Authoritative, but
reliable: Msgr. John J. McGarry, Pastor emeritus, Our Lady of Lourdes
Parish, Colusa; Framk Schleich, Grand Nephew of Jacob Myers. (6) Word

of mouth -- generation to generation of the ancestors of Jacob Myers.
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In September 1864, a Father Lafauber conducted the first Catholic mission
on this site within the Colusa County area. He then made arrangements for
building a church at this location and secured a deed to the property from
E. Chapin and wife. A mission cross of eight by eight inch timbers, twenty
seven-feet high, with cross piece twelve feet long, was erected here. In
1922, the old cross, having rotted, was replaced with a large white cement
cross.

The project of building the church on this site was found impractical and
abandoned in favor of a church at Colusa. The land reverted to the former
owners, as per condition of the deed. The property then passed into the
possession of A. Montgomery and was purchased from him by Ann Myers, wife
of Jacob Myers in 1867.

Masses, pilgrimages and visits continued to be held at this site with just
the cross until 1883. Other than the churches in Colusa, this was the only
spot in Colusa County where religious services were held for many years.

In 1883, Father Michael Wallrath, a man of much historical significance in
this area, decided that the Grand Island Cross site needed something more to
preserve its identity. He secured a deed to the property from Ann Myers and
using left over brick from the construction of the Colusa Church (brick which
he himself had kilned), he erected a small edifice, containing only an altar.
He dedicated the Shrine to "Our Lady of Sorrows'.

Mass has been said continually since that time, at least once a year in the
past fifty two years during the first part of May at the Shrine. The doors
are always unlocked. A register book is left there and names appear from
throughout the United States and Canada. It is also used as a place of
worship quite frequently by the many Mexican laborers in this area. Small
coins, trinkets, and flowers of all descriptions are found there when the
local priest inspects the building.

By word of mouth and handed down by tradition to this generation of the many
ancestors of Ann and Jacob Myers, who still reside here, whenever a priest
was available, Mass was said at the Shrine. The congregation sat in the open,
while the priest celebrated Mass in the little building. After mass, everyone
had a picnic. Shortly after comstruction of the Shrine, an open wooden build-
ing was built to shelter the congregation in inclement weather. Evidence of
this wooden structure has long disappeared, but a grand nephew of Jacob Myers,
Frank Schleich, a gentleman of ninety years, attests to this fact.

On May 13, 1957, Colusa Parlor No. 194, Native Daughters of the Golden West,
placed a bronze plaque, commemorating the site as that of the First Mass in
Colusa County.
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